IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JUN 29 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

Supreme Court Case No. 90,022

IN RE: PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT OF GAIL ANNE ROBERTS

The Florida Bar File No. 97-71,317 (MRE-16B)

The Florida Bar's Initial Brief

CYNTHIA ANN LINDBLOOM Bar Counsel TFB# 0016421 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

John Anthony Boggs
Staff Counsel
TFB #0253847
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.
Executive Director
TFB #123390
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 222-5286

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Respondent Gail Anne Roberts served a petition for reinstatement on March 3, 1997, subsequent to a three year suspension. She had been conditionally admitted to The Florida Bar in December of 1986. The admission required both monthly and random urinanalysis testing for drugs.

In early 1990, eleven days after petitioner's conditional admission had ended, The Bar filed a petition for order to show cause as to why she should not be found in contempt. The Bar's petition was based upon her failure to fully comply with the testing requirements. The Bar and petitioner entered into an agreement whereby the conditional admission was extended for three years and The Bar's petition was voluntarily dismissed.

In May, 1990, Petitioner was arrested for attempting to purchase cocaine from an undercover officer. She pled no contest to the charge. A disciplinary proceeding was initiated by The Bar. At the conclusion of a hearing, the referee recommended a three year suspension, which included enhancement due to petitioner's conditional admission. This Court approved that recommendation in The Florida Bar v. Roberts, 626 So.2d 658 (Fla.1993).

Petitioner is now seeking reinstatement. At the

reinstatement hearing before Referee Tom Wilson, whose recommendation is the subject of this appeal, petitioner offered an explanation of both the conditional admission and the felony arrest. In regard to the conditional admission, she asserted that she was being fully candid and truthful regarding some experimentation with drugs while in college.(T.51,52). In regard to the arrest, she claimed that she only agreed to buy the cocaine to get rid of the persistent undercover officer.(T.73)

Sharon Ramirez, a judicial assistant, testified in behalf of petitioner. Ms. Ramirez testified that had not heard of anything which reflected negatively on petitioner's character, moral standing, or fitness as a lawyer.(T.13,14). However, the witness also testified that she had not seen her perform in a courtroom.(T.12). Ed Horan, a Key West attorney, testified that petitioner's reputation for character was favorable(T.19) and that she carried out her professional tasks in a thorough and competent manner.(T.19-20).

The sworn affidavits of Richard Rummell and William

Vanderveer were admitted into evidence (petitioner's Exhibits

4&5)¹ despite The Bar's objections. Each one had a favorable impression of petitioner's legal skills.

¹The labels available for Exhibits at the hearing were "Plaintiff" used by petitioner, and "Defendant", used by The Bar.

Sean Mc Donald, the father of petitioner's child, testified favorably regarding petitioner's moral character.(T.39-45). He had seen no evidence of drug use during the years that they lived together.(T.15).

Carlos Ruga, staff auditor of The Florida Bar, testified as to his review of petitioner's checking account. His report identified 192 instances wherein checks were returned for insufficient funds between 1993 and 1997.(T.142). Fees alone, for returned checks totaled \$ 7,481.50 during that period of time.(T.143).

Ruga also testified that checks were returned 13 more times between the date of the filing of the petition for reinstatement, March 3, 1997, and March 26,1997, (T.149). Eighteen more checks were returned between March, 1997 and January, 1998. (T.150).

The referee recommended reinstatement. It is that recommendation which is appealed herein.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The burden of proof in a reinstatement hearing is upon the petitioner. It was her obligation to prove good moral character of an unimpeachable nature, proof of intention to act in an exemplary fashion, and strict compliance with prior disciplinary orders. Petitioner failed to meet that burden.

The uncontradicted evidence is that the petitioner issued worthless checks which were returned for insufficient funds 192 times during a six year period. Some of those worthless checks were issued after the petition for reinstatement was filed, and bank records reviewed within months of the final hearing revealed the issuance of more worthless checks. In view of the uncontradicted evidence of worthless checks, the referee should have denied reinstatement to the petitioner.

Reinstatement should also have been denied based upon presuspension conduct and the conduct which led to the suspension, and the fact that petitioner was a conditional admittee.

Petitioner had pled nolo contendere to a felony drug charge.

Petitioner also missed required drug testing. Evidence of that conduct was uncontradicted. In view of all these circumstances reinstatement should not have been recommended by the referee.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY RECOMMENDING REINSTATEMENT

In a reinstatement proceeding the burden is upon the petitioner to prove that she is entitled to resume the privilege of practicing law without restrictions. The Florida Bar v.

Dawson, 131 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1961). Petitioner Roberts has failed as a matter of law to meet that burden.

<u>Dawson</u> summarizes the basic elements which "should be covered in the showing to be made by the petitioner." (p.474). Among the elements are:

This Court expanded the elements set forth in <u>Dawson</u> to not only encompass good moral character, but personal integrity and general fitness for a position of trust and confidence. <u>The Florida Bar v. Grusmark</u>, 662 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 1995).

The uncontradicted evidence should have resulted in denial

of reinstatement as a matter of law. The evidence did not establish impeccable character, proof of intention to act in an exemplary manner in the future, good moral character, personal integrity and general fitness for a position of trust and character. Rather, undisputed evidence established the opposite, and mandated denial of reinstatement in view of prior rulings of this Court.

First, the foregoing conclusion is correct in respect to the uncontradicted testimony of The Bar's auditor, Carlos Ruga. Ruga testified that petitioner has issued checks which were returned for insufficient funds 192 times during the time period 1993-1997. (T.142). Bank fees, alone, for the issuance of the checks with insufficient funds totaled \$ 7.481.50.(T.143). Even during the month that the petitioner filed for reinstatement, March of 1997, checks were issued which were returned thirteen times for insufficient funds. Checks were returned on eighteen more occasions as of January 1998, (T.150) the last date of review of the bank records. The final hearing commenced just two months later on April 3, 1998.

The law regarding the issuance of worthless checks by an attorney is clear:

"Issuing a worthless check ...constitutes

unethical conduct and subjects the attorney to professional discipline. The Florida Bar v. Solomon, 589 So.2d 286,287 (Fla.1991), quoting The Florida Bar v. Davis, 361 So.2d 159 (Fla. 1978). (Emphasis supplied).

While this case is a reinstatement case rather than a disciplinary case, the same rule should apply. In fact, it should be applied with greater vigor to an attorney who has been suspended previously. Such an attorney has a "heavy burden", to justify the return of the privilege to practice law, in the face of the overriding goal of The Bar to protect the public.

Petition of Wolfe, 257 So.2d 547,548 (Fla.1972).

Petitioner offered as an alleged legal excuse the unsubstantiated claim that she had provided restitution in regard to all of the bad checks. Even if true, this court has categorically rejected the claim that restitution excuses the offense. In The Florida Bar v. Lopez, 2 545 So.2d 835,837 (Fla.1989), this Court stated:

Petitioner's bank statements for the two-year period of January 1986-88 show that petitioner issued 444 checks on his account at Ocean Bank. Of these, 199 created overdrafts on the account, of which 48 were returned for nonsufficient funds. Petitioner testified that the returned checks were immediately made

² Compare <u>The Florida Bar v. Yanks</u>, 690 So.2d 1270(Fla.1997)

good, that he had an overdraft agreement with the bank, and the bank erred in returning the 48 checks. In support, the president of the testified he had an oral overdraft petitioner the whereby with agreement petitioner would call when he wished to make an overdraft and, normally that he, would approve the overdraft. president. Neither the president nor the petitioner offered any explanation for the high number, 48, of "errors." Petitioner's basic position, which the referee apparently accepted, is that the overdraft agreement and the petitioner's testimony that he immediately made the checks good is an adequate explanation and that the returned checks were the responsibility of the The burden of showing We disagree. bank. fitness to resume the practice of law was on petitioner. Routinely writing bad checks, even if eventually made good burdens the recipients and is fundamentally dishonest. It brings disrepute on the writer and the profession. It is inconsistent with fitness to practice law.

Even if this were a disciplinary proceeding against the petitioner, without reference to his previous suspensions, it is clear that he would be subject to suspension or In the context of a petition for discipline. petitioner has reinstatement, failed to demonstrate his fitness to resume the practice of law. The facts of the case are essentially undisputed. However. referee's recommendation for reinstatement record and the lacks support in We dismiss the petition for disapproved. reinstatement in accordance with rule 3-7.9(K) (Emphasis supplied)

This court has held that discipline for issuing worthless

checks is appropriate even when alcoholism contributed to the conduct. The Florida Bar. In Re Ray Hill, 298 So.2d 161 (Fla.1974), and even when the attorney was found to be not guilty of criminal worthless check charges by virtue of insanity. The Florida Bar v. Parsons, 238 So.2d 644 (Fla.1970). The foregoing defenses and/or mitigating factors are certainly more substantial than the petitioner's amorphous defense of a dramatic decrease in income subsequent to her suspension, (T.75), combined with the birth of her child and the existence of stress(T.75).

In fact, her claim of a dramatic decrease of income was unsubstantiated. Petitioner testified that she earned approximately \$ 25,000.00 per year prior to her suspension.

(T.74). Thereafter, while her income tax returns portrayed income ranging from \$ 11,000.00 to \$ 20,000.00 between 1993-1996, her deposits, as reflected in her bank statements, revealed totals ranging from \$ 30,000.00 to \$ 48,000.00 for those same years.(Bar Exh.#5). The Petitioner testified that, in addition to her income from employment as a paralegal, she received funds from Sean McDonald, the father of her child, from her parents, and from week-end employment at her parent's businesses.(T.81,82).

Even if restitution did constitute a defense, it could not

apply here, since petitioner did not provide any proof of restitution, nor did her accountant, who did not attempt to verify it.(T.59). Furthermore, the claim that she knew that everyone had been repaid seems to be contradicted by the fact that petitioner felt the need to take out general advertisements asking creditors to contact her.(T.79). Clearly, the large number of worthless checks issued over a period of several years cannot be ignored.

In addition, the underlying offense which resulted in suspension was appropriately considered by the referee. Wolfe, supra. However, he apparently arrived at the wrong conclusion based upon petitioner's attempt to explain away her felony conviction. Petitioner testified that she agreed to buy cocaine to get rid of the seller.(T.73). This is a somewhat tenuous claim insofar as she agreed to meet the seller after the original contact, and returned to meet him (while inebriated).(T.72). Petitioner's account of what took place sounds highly improbable:

"I was out drinking with a couple friends of mine, a fireman and his wife. And we had some drinks at happy hour. I had an argument with my boyfriend. I was very upset. I went out

³ Petitioner's explanation was not explicitly accepted or rejected by this court in the suspension hearing. Roberts, supra. A three year suspension was approved nevertheless.

.. "So I finally went back to the restaurant. I saw John, who was the --I mean Roy, I believe his name is, who was the confidential informant. And he told me that--you know, he started trying to pressure me into purchasing this half a gram of cocaine. I kept telling him no. Then finally, like I said in my deposition, just to get rid of him, I just said, 'All right, whatever.' And I pulled my car over, and that's when the transaction and arrest occurred." (T.72,73).

Petitioner was convicted based upon a nolo contendere plea.

Apparently, no defense was submitted in the criminal proceedings, including no claim that she was pressured so greatly that she felt compelled to do it. Most important is the fact that petitioner's story, if true, would not constitute proof of good moral character, etc. How many law abiding individuals would agree to buy cocaine because the seller was persistent? No authority is offered to support the claim that a high pressure cocaine salesman relieves one of responsibility for one's

conduct.

Petitioner was also obligated to meet the burden of providing "strict compliance" with the specific conditions of the disciplinary order. <u>Dawson; Grusmark, supra.</u>; <u>The Florida Bar v.</u>

<u>Janssen</u>, 643 So.2d 1065 (Fla.1994). This rule should certainly apply to the terms of the conditional admission as well.

Petitioner admitted her failure to be tested for several months.(T.65). While all other tests were negative, the outcome of the missed tests can never be known. This failure, without consulting with The Bar regarding any alleged reason for the omissions, should not have been overlooked. Petitioner's statement that the tests were expensive(T.65) offers no justification for violating the testing requirements.

Documents offered by the <u>petitioner</u> also established that petitioner had a poor record of complying with drug testing, particularly during the first three years of her conditional admittance to The Bar. A representative of The Bar wrote to her on February 7, 1989 (P. Exh.#2) stating in part:

"I have received eight monthly reports since you have been on probation. As of December of last year, I should have received 24 reports."

The February letter was followed by an August 1, 1989 letter

which stated: "...your reporting has not been anything other than sporadic." (P. Exh.#1).

In addition, petitioner did not obtain a final evaluation from a Florida Lawyers' Assistance, Inc. (FLA,Inc.) approved doctor as required by the suspension order. Rather, she and her attorney selected a doctor without consulting with The Florida Bar. (T.125).

Dawson, supra.,requires "strict compliance" with the
disciplinary order..." Petitioner has failed to strictly
comply*

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority,
The Florida Bar respectfully submits that the referee's
recommendation to reinstate the petitioner is erroneous as a
matter of law, and reinstatement should be denied.

CYNTHIA ANN LINDBLOOM

Whene K. Hankel, for

Bar Counsel
TFB No. 0016421
The Florida Bar
444 Brickell Avenue,
Suite M-100
Miami, Florida 33131
Tel: (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.
Executive Director
TFB No. 123390
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
Tel: (850) 561-5600

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS
Staff Counsel
TFB No.
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
Tel: (850) 561-5600