## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. 90,022

IN RE: PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT OF GAIL ANNE ROBERTS	$\mathbf{FILED}_{sid}$ , white
	JUL 28 1998
	CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk
amd.	
PETITIONER'S ANSWER BI	RIEF

MICHAEL R. BARNES Attorney for Petitioner Florida Bar # 0906565 801 Whitehead Street Key West, FL 33040 (305) 296-5297

## Statement of Compliance with Administrative Order dated July 13. 1998,

Petitioner's counsel certifies that he has prepared the following brief in Times Roman font in accordance with the requirements of the above Order.

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Petitioner agrees and accepts both her burden of proof and her obligation to prove good moral character and all of the requirements that the Florida Supreme Court places on a Petitioner for Reinstatement to the Florida Bar. Petitioner disagrees with the Florida Bar's evaluation of the decision of the Honorable Judge Thomas S. Wilson, Jr., Referee in the Reinstatement hearing. In a reinstatement proceeding, the party seeking review (The Florida Bar) has the burden to show that the report is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. West's *F.S.A.* Bar *Rule 3-7.10(j)*. It is submitted that the Florida Bar has failed to carry this burden.

The Judge at the trial level addressed the issue of the returned checks, considered all of the testimony, including that of the Florida Bar's own Certified Public Account and only witness, the Petitioner's Certified Public Accountant and the Petitioner's own testimony, and found that there was unrefuted testimony that the checks had all been reimbursed, that measures have been put into place by the Petitioner to ensure that no other checks are returned, including a strict budget, a consolidation and paying off of numerous prior debts, an increased income, a new savings account and an overdraft protection on her account, and Petitioner has a modest lifestyle.

Petitioner is acutely aware of the importance of keeping her account in order and she has shown in her actions and in her testimony, sincere repentance for any prior failings and has given personal assurances to the Florida Bar and to the Court to continue on a path of financial responsibility. Petitioner willingly agreed to have her account monitored by the Florida Bar for a

period of one (1) year from her Reinstatement and in fact to any other reasonable condition placed on her regarding her finances. Petitioner submits that she is open to any suggestion as to what additional assurances can be made to satisfy the Bar's concerns regarding the protection of any future client whom she may represent. (T. p.93.)

As mitigating circumstances, Petitioner admits that while she wrote the dishonored checks, she had no intent to defraud either **the** bank or the payee. Respondent testified that at the time that **she** wrote the dishonored checks, she intended to make sufficient deposits to cover her withdrawals, and that she was somewhat remiss in keeping strict enough account balance and reconciliation records, deposits were made and the checks were paid. In addition, none of the checks were involved in any attorney-client relationship but were all personal checks written for necessities and living expenses.

The Kcferee at the Reinstatement hearing, Judge Thomas S. Wilson, who was appointed by this Supreme Court, found after exhaustive evidence, that there was: "I want to make---drugs are very, very critical. And I want to make certain the record is clear here that I don't----the Bar has no evidence, zip, zero, nada, none, of any present or even within the last six or seven years of drug abuse or drug usage. That's a fair statement correct?" (T. p.175.) It is hard to imagine how one could be more articulate in attempting to get the point across **that** a certain matter is not an issue. The Judge specifically found that any issue regarding drugs and drug testing was non-existent. (T. p. 175) The Florida Bar agreed without argument. (T. p. 174)

All of the witnesses were aware of the circumstances which resulted in the Petitioner's suspension. The witnesses knew the Petitioner for a significant number of years, on a personal and social level. The three attorneys who testified had all worked closely with the Petitioner when she

was an attorney (Horan) and since her suspension (Rumrell and VanDercreek.) All of the witnesses were familiar with her reputation in the community. All of the witnesses testimony included information regarding the Petitioner's character and professional abilities in the past ten (10) year time period.

It is undisputed Florida law, as set down by this Supreme Court, that the evidence and facts of any matter tried before a Referee come to the Supreme Court clothed with a presumption of correctness. It is submitted that the Referee heard all of the evidence and the testimony, that he evaluated same in light of the Petitioner's history with the Florida Bar, that he used the criteria as set forth in the cases by this Supreme Court, and that based on all of his findings, he determined that the Petitioner should be readmitted to the practice of law.

The Keferee found and Petitioner submits that she has met the burden of proof of intention to act in an exemplary fashion, and her desire to strictly comply with any disciplinary orders as set forth by this Court. (T. p. 92-94.)

In regard to the issue addressed in the Florida Bar's Initial Brief as to the conditional admission, it is respectfully submitted to this Court that the Petitioner has answered to these allegations, has had them previously decided by two Referees and this Honorable Court, and has completed a combined period of eight (8) years of probationary status with the Florida Bar which she submits has been a more than reasonable penalty for any non-compliance or violation which may be attributed to her past actions.

The Florida Bar refers to the Petitioner's income tax returns which show a lesser taxable income are unfounded. The Florida Bar's attempt to suggest that the Petitioner's tax returns and her checking account balance differences mean that she has unreported income in unfounded and has

no basis in fact. Such allegations are refuted by the Certified Public Accountant as misleading at best.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Petitioner submits that the elements as set forth in The Florida Bar v. Dawson, 13 1

So.2d 472, which set out the requirements necessary for Petitioner to prove that she is entitled to resume the privilege of practicing law without restrictions have been satisfied. Petitioner has met that burden through the evidence presented at the trial level to the Referee by the testimony of Petitioner and all of the credible witnesses listed who testified in her behalf. In fact, the Referee used the criteria as set forth in Dawson. and found that all of the conditions so required by the Supreme court had been met. (T. p. 180.)

Although Petitioner admits that there were NSF checks returned against her personal checking account during the past several years, she has done everything possible to redirect her life financially and to prove restitution of all amounts to the Florida Bar and to this Court. (T. p.92.) Petitioner has testified under oath that all of the checks either cleared the bank the second time that they were presented or were personally picked up from the creditor and paid for by the Petitioner.

In addition, in an abundance of caution, and in order to satisfy the Florida Bar with additional proof of restitution, Petitioner took out legal notices in both the Key West Citizen (Monroe County) and the Sun Sentinel (Broward County), newspapers of wide circulation and which are the only two counties the Petitioner has lived in since 1991 through the present time. Said legal notices requested that any creditor, merchant, individual or company who had any

returned check against the Petitioner should immediately present it to her for payment. No response was heard from any person or company.(T.p 79-80.) In it's Initial Brief, the Florida Bar gives the Petitioner's advertisement in the legal notice section of the Monroe County and Broward County newspapers a negative connotation. This is abundantly unfair as it attempts to undermine and cast doubt on Petitioner's testimony that all of the checks had been paid and it attempted further to cast a suspicious light on Petitioner's honest, resolute attempts to close all doors regarding the Florida Bars doubts as to the NSF check issue and the restitution paid. In fact, the Referee at the Reinstatement hearing said that: "To put in advertisements in the Fort Lauderdale and the local Key West newspaper, the efforts she [Petitioner] has made I consider to be very worthwhile." (T. p. 183.)

The Florida Bar alleges that Petitioner's account reflects returned checks numbering 192. The fact is that this number does not reflect the number of checks which were presented. Besides errors made in the calculations of the numbers (T. p. 55), the Florida Bar counted checks twice and gave little credit to the fact that approximately 70-80 of the checks cleared the bank when they were redeposited within one (1) to three (3) days of their return, which lends credibility to Petitioner's testimony that she never intended to write an NSF check, to not make any check good, but the returns were based solely on her inability to get the deposit to the bank in time coupled with her lack of sufficient income to meet necessary expenses. The Referee noted that all of the checks were for necessary items and living expenses such as groceries, utilities, rent, medical bills, household goods, children's expenses, etc. and not for lavish items. Petitioner testified that she made good on every check ever returned.(T. p.77-78.)

Petitioner offered additional assurances to the Florida Bar in the form of testimony that she had contacted, in writing, all of the state and or nation-wide check approval companies which keep records of any outstanding NSF checks to merchants or creditors and no company advised her of any problem. (She also provided information to them such as her driver's license number, address, telephone number and bank name for a complete and thorough check). Petitioner was never notified of any adverse information found by any one of the check approval companies. (T. p.79-80.)

li, r

The Petitioner has had a small number of returned checks against her account in the past year, as the Florida Bar has pointed out, however, and if this Court will note, the last bank statements as provided to the Referee and to the Florida Bar's CPA reflected that there was one (1) check returned in January of 1998 and zero ("0") after that. Petitioner has taken great strides to remedy her financial situation as she testified to in court. (T. p.77,78,83.)

The Florida Bar has chosen selective portions of the following cases to support it's argument. A more complete presentation of those same cases demonstrates that, in fact, they support Petitioner's reinstatement.

The Florida Bar cites <u>The Florida Bar v. Lopez</u>, 545 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1989). The Court should note that this case is distinguishable from the Petitioner's case in that the attorney's writing of worthless checks was only incidental to his past criminal conduct and other additional aggravating circumstances which affected the Court's decision. Mr. Lopez had been suspended for one (1) year in 1981 for tampering with witnesses, in 1983 he was convicted in Federal Court a twenty-two (22) count felony indictment regarding the representation of aliens and false and fictitious statements as to material facts in their applications to the United States INS for which

he was again suspended for a three (3) year period. In addition, Mr. Lopez failed to file income tax returns for a five (5) year period of time, failed to disclose a previous arrest for extortion in 1980 (hiring a gunman to threaten a witness), and had 199 overdrafts on his account.

In Petition of Wolfe, 257 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1972), Mr. Wolfe had been disbarred after a felony conviction, was suspended twice, which all included cases of misappropriation of client funds and the court found that his witnesses had no knowledge of Petitioner's prior misconduct or the seriousness of the misconduct, or had not been associated with him on any item of legal business.

In the case of <u>The Florida Bar In Re Rav Hill</u>, 298 So,2d 16 1 (Fla. 1974), the Respondent issued insufficient funds checks on his attorney operating account, was an alcoholic who had not sought treatment for more than twenty (20) years, and had been reprimanded in the past by the Florida Bar for worthless checks, withholding of client's money, diversion of funds placed for investment and other matters.

The Florida Bar cites <u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, 361 So.2d 159 (Fla. 1978), wherein Mr. Davis, as a practicing attorney, not only was <u>convicted</u> of issuing worthless checks on his operating account, but also, failed to satisfy a judgment on a promissory note given to an employee, used a trust account for personal expenditures, and obtained an unsecured loan <u>from</u> a client and failed to repay such loan.

In <u>The Florida Barre: Grusmark</u>, 662 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 1995), this Court found that although the Petitioner/Attorney had a disorderly financial situation, was in debt over \$300,000.00 (he later filed for bankruptcy), owed the Florida Bar \$1,1410.00, had previous disciplinary actions which were directly connected to his financial difficulties, and had failed to

make complete restitution to the Client Security Fund until after the reinstatement hearing, he was entitled to be reinstated to the practice of law. This case also reemphasizes the Florida Bar rule that the burden is on party seeking review of the Referee's recommendation that the report is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. *West's F.S.A. Bar Rule 3-7.* 10(j).

In the <u>Florida Bar v. Janssen</u>, 643 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1970), Mr. Janssen had been suspended for trust account violations and shortages and improprieties related to receiving loans from clients from clients. In addition, Petitioner made misrepresentations and omissions regarding his arrest record, his involvement in the university varsity athletics, his need to be released from jail and financial situation and his failure to meet his child support allegations.

The Florida Bar cites <u>The Florida Bar v. Parsons</u>, 238 So. 2d 644 (Fla. 1970), the Petitioner had been charged by Complaint with failure to represent a client with diligence and failure to appear and defend said client with the result in an adverse judgment against said client, and the issuance worthless checks

In the case of <u>The Florida Bar v. Hernandez-Yanks</u>, 690 So. 2d 1270, the Petitioner was suspended for one (1) year from the Florida Bar following discipline relating to real estate matters in her private practice. Following completion of her suspension, the attorney filed for reinstatement and the referee recommended that the petition be granted, despite the attorney's poor handling of her personal checking account. The Court further stated: "While the Bar opposes Hernandcz-Yanks reinstatement, we note that each of the grounds cited by the Bar for denial was before the referee when he formulated his report. Because the referee's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence and because the recommendation of reinstatement

has a basis in existing case law, we will not second-guess the referee on this matter. See <u>Florida</u>

Bar re Kue, 663 So.2d 1320 (Fla. 1995.)

No case was presented by the Florida Bar which was based on the issuance of NSF checks on a Petitioner's personal checking account and wherein all of the checks were made good and the Florida Bar offered no testimony or evidence to the contrary.

Petitioner asks that this Court acknowledge the steps which she has taken, especially in the past year, to safeguard the handling of her finances to assure the Bar and this Court that she will behave in a responsibly financial manner and to insure that she does not falter from this conduct, and to prove to this court rehabilitation by improvement of her personal finances.

The Petitioner has opened up a checking account at her local hometown bank with whom she has currently has an excellent banking relationship and a personal bank officer. She also secured an agreement with the bank to shield her account from overdrafts and returned checks. This step was initiated in an over-abundance of caution and not as a protection so that she could write NSF checks. Petitioner opened up a savings account with the same bank. Petitioner has established a small CD with Citibank. Petitioner testified that she prepared and works from a strict monthly budget--projecting her budget two months in advance. Petitioner secured a consolidation loan in February of this year and paid off a substantial number of debts and open accounts. Petitioner requested her Credit report and is aware of her credit history, how to protect it, and is intent on so doing. (T. p.80-83.) It is worth mentioning that although Petitioner could have, she never filed for Bankruptcy as a escape from her financial difficulties, but faced them instead by paying her just debts, even though it meant that every month it would be difficult to make ends meet. Petitioner testified that she now has a roommate who is sharing expenses with

her. Petitioner has stable employment with room for salary increases and advancements in the near future. Petitioner also works part-time on the weekends and the child support amounts she receives to assist her with her minor son are received monthly and on time.(T. p.80-83.)

Petitioner requests that all of the steps be given more weight in consideration of the fact that they have occurred in the last year in an attempt to assure the Florida Bar and this Court of her honorable intentions. The personal assurances of the Petitioner, supported by corroborating evidence, along with the testimonial evidence presented to the Referee at the trial level, her sincere sense of repentance, and her obvious desire to conduct herself in an exemplary fashion are all elements as set forth in <u>Dawson</u>, and which this Petitioner submits, have been met,

In regard to the drug issue, the Referee found that there was compliance with the previous suspension order, and in fact that Petitioner had "bent over backwards. Six years of drug testing and not a single positive." The Referee found that the Petitioner had met this burden. (T. p. 1 SO-181.)

In fact, the Referee admonished the Florida Bar for coming to Court alleging that there was drug issue with "no evidence" in regard to drug usage. (T.p. 175.) The Court asked the Florida Bar counsel: "That's a fair statement, correct?" to which Bar Counsel replied: "Yes, Your Honor." The Court: ""So let's throw the drug thing away." (T. p. 175.) Bar Counsel: "Yes, sir."

Petitioner submits that she has complied in the strictest sense with the requirement that she prove to the Florida Bar that she has had no involvement with drugs in any manner whatsoever. Petitioner not only *never had a positive drug test in all of the required eight* (8) *years of drug testing*, but she continued taking <u>voluntary</u> drug tests and submitted them to the Florida Bar on a monthly basis for the next two (2) years--from 1995 to 1997. In addition, Dr.

Frederick Covan, an experienced and licensed Psychologist with 20 plus years of dealing with drug counseling, including a Chief Residency as a Psychologist at Belview Hospital in New York, testified in the Petitioner's behalf, and stated that she does not have and probably never had a drug problem or drug dependency or drug addiction and that drug counseling was not needed in Petitioner's case.

The Referee considered the underlying offense which resulted in the Petitioner's suspension, states that Petitioner returned to meet the CI, but on the contrary the Petitioner specifically stated in her sworn testimony that she returned to drop off her friend who was in the car with her, and intended to tell the CT that she was going to meet her boyfriend and that she was not interested in having a drink with the CI at the restaurant. (T. p.72.)

Law abiding citizens pressured into committing a crime is called entrapment, the defense that I did not have the money to pursue.

In regard to the Florida Bar's comments regarding the amounts which were deposited into Petitioner's personal checking account, specifically the years 1993-1996, the Bar is not relying on anything more than unfounded speculation and misleading statements. The Bar has obviously ignored the Certified Public Accountant Randy Moore's testimony that amounts deposited into a person's checking account "... don't have anything to do with under-reported income.", and that: "...just to make a statement that your deposits are higher than your income is extremely kind of over-simplifying anybody's situation." For example, checks that are re-deposited come back as an addition to the account. Then of course, with the deposits, there are other sources of income, especially if you live with someone and they are contributing to your rent or contributing to your utilities. Gifts from the family, all sorts of things. So when someone is looking for unreported

income, like an internal revenue agent or someone that's doing that, they do a comprehensive net worth test. So it's really kind of a misrepresentation to say, "Oh, well, your deposits were higher than your income, so you must not be paying enough tax." You have to go beyond that." (T. P.56)

In fact, the Florida Bar's own witness, Mr. Carlos Ruga, a Certified Public Accountant, stated that he had no indication that there was any kind of improper filing of an income tax return. (T.p. 158.)

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